

What do we know about overcoming barriers to siting energy infrastructure in local areas?



What do we know about overcoming barriers to siting energy infrastructure in local areas?

By Prof Patrick Devine Wright¹, Dr Hannah Devine Wright², and Dr Richard Cowell³

¹ Department of Geography, University of Exeter

² Placewise Limited

³ School of Geography and Planning, Cardiff University

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors, not necessarily those of the Department of Energy & Climate Change (nor do they reflect government policy).

What do we know about overcoming barriers to siting energy infrastructure in local areas?

© Crown copyright 2016

URN 15D/539

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.

To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to either Hannah@placewise.org or the Department of Energy and Climate Change.

Contents

A DECC Evidence Summary	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Executive summary	5
Implications for practice	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Implications for policy	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Knowledge gaps and suggestions for future research	Error! Bookmark not defined.
Section 1: Introduction	7
Core assumptions	7
Section 2: What do we know about overcoming barriers to areas?	
1.1 Effective spatial planning	10
1.2 Methods of public engagement that work well	14
1.3 The impact of different models of project ownership	17
1.4 The impact of community benefit provision	19
1.5 How the national energy narrative might affect 'what	works'22
Section 3: Discussion, gaps and research suggestions	25
2.1 Discussion	25
2.2 Gaps and suggestions for future research	27
Gaps in evidence and quality of research	27
Appendix A: Methodology	30
Appendix B: References	33

Executive summary

This review examines the available evidence on installing energy infrastructure in local areas.

The Review summarises the evidence from a rigorous and systematic search of the available literature undertaken in Spring 2015, identifying the implications for practice and policy. The Review was conducted in response to an absence of a clear understanding and synthesis of the current evidence around the placement and public acceptance of energy infrastructure. This Review is for policy audiences and external stakeholders working in the policy area. It can be used as an introduction to the field and a source of evidence.

Implications for practice

There are some clear themes that emerge from the literature with implications for practice:

- Successful placement is associated with legitimacy and trust, which can be fostered by early dialogue and engagement (Dietz & Stern, 2008; Sciencewise, 2015; DECC, 2014f).
- Providing feedback to communities about how their input changed infrastructure proposals can increase trust and social acceptance (Aitken et al., 2014).
- Community renewable energy projects often attract more public support than commercial schemes, although that does not mean that they always obtain planning consent. 100% commercially owned schemes tend to be less popular with the public (e.g. Warren and McFadyen, 2006) and move more slowly through planning processes (Haggett et al., 2013).
- Coordination between different levels of policy (for instance between local and central government) can help communities to actively participate in community-led or shared ownership projects (Haggett et al., 2014).
- Community ownership, or provision for shared ownership, has the potential to become widely available for all infrastructure types (DECC, 2014e).
- There is little evidence that community benefits (such as shared ownership) make local publics more supportive of infrastructure development (Cass et al., 2010), but they can make them seem fairer to those living in the area.
- Spatial zoning strategies are useful to coordinate the concerns of major stakeholders but they do not eliminate public objection.
- Local communities may be more willing to accept projects if developers site and design them
 in ways that work with, rather than against, local identities and people's attachment to
 specific places (Devine-Wright & Howes, 2010).

Implications for policy

The literature points to the fact that siting nationally significant infrastructure in local areas is not just a local issue.

- All citizens are affected by infrastructure siting as voters, taxpayers, members of interest groups or local residents – there is therefore potential benefit from giving them the opportunity to input into infrastructure planning and deployment.
- The evidence suggests that involving publics in national policy making is both possible and potentially beneficial, when carefully conducted (Pidgeon et al., 2014). This could help to address a national-local 'gap' in public attitudes (Batel & Devine-Wright, 2014)
- A national level debate, as has been undertaken in Germany, could explore how energy futures could be implemented in specific places in ways that take emotional attachments into account (Devine-Wright, 2009), do not sacrifice them for national or global interests (Ellis et al., 2007), and achieve distributional justice of impacts (Cowell et al., 2012).
- The authors suggest that policy is more likely to be successful if it acknowledges that energy infrastructure is a complex, interdependent system with many elements. These elements include various:
 - actors (e.g. national and local policy makers, companies, interest groups, citizens),
 - technologies of heat and power generation (e.g. wind farms) and
 - distribution (e.g. transmission networks)
 working across different:
 - scales (e.g. international, national, regional and local) and
 - contexts (e.g. urban and rural locations).
- This systemic approach is important as policy goals are more likely to be achieved if all elements (especially those that are problematic or under researched) are addressed, not just certain elements (e.g. only providing community benefit provision).
- Putting a systemic approach into practice (to encourage legitimacy and learning) would likely require a review of processes, practices, and actors involved in infrastructure siting.
- Supporting institutions that can play 'bridging' or capacity building roles between national and local levels for the development of sustainable energy systems (Hawkey et al., 2013) could be beneficial.
- In other European Countries municipalities are often much bigger players in infrastructure development, studying these could provide further insight for the UK.

Section 1: Introduction

Promoting more sustainable forms of energy – in terms of decarbonisation and sustainability, energy security and affordability – will require significant changes to infrastructure.

While government targets may set a high-level direction of travel, a key challenge in realising change is that infrastructures are embedded in places and environments. Such places are important for a variety of reasons, as part of the quality of people's lives and daily experience, and as the settings through which people connect to the wider environment. The installation of new energy infrastructure can reveal a wide range of people's concerns: about wider societal issues, about the impacts of projects on the environment and on communities, about the agendas that underpin these projects, and the ways in which decisions are made.

Such concerns provide the context for this research review. The overarching focus is on 'what works' to overcome barriers to installing new infrastructure in local areas?' The review is focused further by two questions:

- What works in relation to public engagement and acceptance of local infrastructure siting?
- What works in obtaining planning permission for new infrastructure in local areas?

The aim of the review is to produce an evidence summary from which useful lessons for future policy can be identified. In consultation with DECC and through a formal call for evidence, we identified potentially relevant evidence sources and conducted a rigorous and systematic search of literature (see appendix A). The rest of the report is structured as follows:

- Section 1 introduces the core assumptions the authors have made, and provides a brief overview of the field.
- Section 2 is a detailed review of the evidence on what works, categorised by intervention type.
- Section 3 concludes the paper by discussing the underlying assumptions in the literature, summarising gaps in knowledge and suggesting future research.
- Appendix A summarises the methodology used.

Core assumptions

There are multiple ways of understanding 'what works' for energy infrastructure siting. As well as obtaining planning permission without undue delay there is also the need to create decision-making procedures that are seen to distribute fairly the costs and benefits from infrastructure. Fostering public acceptance of energy infrastructures is another consideration for those involved in siting processes.

This review covers a diverse array of large-scale energy infrastructures. The available evidence varies in quantity by technology type, with larger numbers of studies conducted on more established or more controversial technologies. Although we generalise from specific technologies to infrastructures more generally it is important to recognise key differences between them, including technical configuration, scale, local impacts, levels of public familiarity, and whether there are already support or objection groups (for further information on the relevance of technology, please see 'Different forms of technology and 'what works'', in 'Section 3).

The public are not a single group of people and hold a wide variety of views about infrastructure and where it should be placed. We can make useful distinctions between:

- society as a whole,
- · communities of interest (people who are linked through shared opinions); and
- communities of locality (people who are linked through living near each other).

Therefore in this paper we often talk not of the public as a single group, but of 'publics' – groups of people characterised by membership of different kinds of community and with different concerns as part of wider society. Although research on society as a whole tends to focus on general attitudes towards energy technologies, important insights can be gained when national-level studies focus on particular infrastructures and local case studies focus on national policies (Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014) (for further discussion of this, see 'Impacts of different ways of thinking about 'the public' or 'publics' on 'what works', in Section 3).

People can form emotional attachments to particular places. This can lead to infrastructure siting being seen as a threat not only to a place but also to the identities of people who feel attached to that place. Often these emotional attachments are not taken into account by developers. This can have negative consequences for public engagement and public acceptance of infrastructure in their area (Devine-Wright, 2009).

Section 2: What do we know about overcoming barriers to siting energy infrastructure in local areas?

This section reviews the evidence of what we know about what works and the impacts of key categories of intervention.

Section Summary

The choice of where energy infrastructure is located has a significant effect on how different groups of people respond. Spatial planning exercises are a method of determining placement of infrastructure based on multiple concerns. They have the potential to be part of national discussions about possible energy futures, but this has not been well researched.

Spatial zoning strategies define areas that are more or less appropriate for certain kinds of development. They are useful for coordinating the concerns of major stakeholders involved in infrastructure development processes. However, even where infrastructure is targeted on spatial zones deemed more appropriate for development, this does not prevent public objection. A sense that decision-making processes are unfair is a significant cause of public opposition.

What people think about energy infrastructures is not just determined by how close they live to the infrastructure but also by what they think about different energy technologies and how they feel about the places where those energy technologies are located. Where developers or policy-makers assume that publics are essentially NIMBYist (Not-In-My-Back-Yard) in their attitudes towards infrastructure development, this encourages approaches to public engagement that people involved are likely to find tokenistic, instrumental, and therefore problematic.

Research consistently emphasises that **public engagement** can improve the quality and legitimacy of energy infrastructure decision-making. Research consistently calls for public engagement at the early stages of development decisions, with this being especially important where technologies are less familiar. However, if engagement opportunities are limited or insincere, this can deepen public mistrust of developers and make public objections more likely. The use by developers of locally-based people as liaison officers can help enable information to flow between project proponents and communities and increase trust.

Evidence shows that publics evaluate **community-owned projects** more positively than conventional commercial schemes. Community energy projects enable greater public engagement and control over siting and design and channel more benefits to local citizens. However, some community energy projects are evaluated less positively than others – public acceptance is not guaranteed. To address this, attention needs to be given to the particular models of ownership being promoted by community energy projects – which vary greatly due to the ambiguity and flexibility of the term 'community' (Walker et al., 2007) – and how they allocate control and the flow of benefits.

Energy projects developed and/or owned by communities can proceed more quickly through planning but getting planning consent remains a challenge, regardless of the balance of local support to opposition. There are few places where there is a lot of capacity and strong desire to promote community renewable projects; this suggests that there is a need to build capacity, and to develop shared or joint ownership in commercially led projects.

The provision of **community benefits** started with on-shore wind projects and is now more widely practised. There is little evidence that providing community benefits changes the attitudes of local publics or alters the outcomes of planning processes. If handled badly, community benefits can increase conflict and mistrust. This can be reduced if benefits are introduced in a timely and transparent manner. In general people support the principle of community benefits. For example, DECC's public attitudes tracking survey (DECC, 2015) found that 78% of respondents felt that a community ought to experience some direct benefit from infrastructure siting; the level has remained between 81% and 78% for the past 4 years. Even if community benefits do not make people more positive toward a project they can be important for achieving distributional justice, a way to compensate people for accepting the impacts of nationally significant infrastructure. Research indicates that for the majority of the British public, it is important that particular locales are not disproportionately affected by infrastructure siting, and that such decisions should be made in an inclusive and democratic way (Parkhill et al, 2013, p29).

Disputes about the national need for infrastructure and how that is determined underlie many apparent problems of 'local acceptance' for energy infrastructure in 'local planning'. Evidence, both from Germany and the UK, shows that publics can be involved in debates about national energy policy making, and that it is beneficial when conducted carefully using deliberative methods of public participation. From this we can infer that institutions will site more successfully if they connect national policy and local engagement. This will produce beneficial learning across connections between project and policy, and reduce the likelihood of 'national-local gaps' (Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014).

1.1 Effective spatial planning

Decision-making procedures for energy infrastructures are sometimes detached from the conventional planning system

In assessing 'what works in obtaining planning permission for new infrastructure in local areas', it is important to recognise that much energy-related infrastructure goes through quite specialised decision-making procedures, which are detached or semi-detached from the conventional planning system:

- large-scale energy infrastructure (electricity generating stations over 50MW, major grid lines) is determined by central government, through the special regime for Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects
- statutory undertakers in the energy sphere have a whole host of powers to undertake
 actions that operate, maintain and extend networks (be it through low voltage wires or
 pipelines) without conventional planning consent
- very small infrastructures such as micro-renewables do not need consent at all: they are permitted development.

This is important for four reasons:

- i. It is only necessary to obtain planning permission for certain categories of infrastructure but this covers a large amount of infrastructure and facilities that have a high potential for controversy (e.g. wind farms or field-scale solar farms up to 50MW, fracking wells).
- ii. Decision-making for Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects and wires and pipelines do make provision for public engagement or landowner objections, but because they are designed to make sure that strategic energy goals like decarbonisation, system integration and energy security are met, they limit the scope for opposition that would affect delivery (see, for example, DECC 2011c, DECC 2013e).
- **iii.** Institutional arrangements for decision-making affect where measures to enhance public engagement and public acceptance 'fit'.
- iv. The institutional arrangements for decision-making shape the distribution of research –most investigation of public acceptance of local infrastructure siting has focused on those technologies that require planning permission (e.g. renewable projects up to 50MW), where local objections have greatest potential to influence decisions, and thereby delay or derail projects. Much less research addresses projects going through central consenting processes, and very little addresses infrastructure like pipes and low voltage electricity wires.

Of course, potential changes to these decision-making arrangements – e.g. to bring developments into the local planning system or take them out of it – are themselves an important form of intervention, and one which can affect the relative impact of importance of public acceptance in receiving approval for local infrastructure siting. For example there is a proposal to take all on-shore wind farm permissions, including those over 50MW, out of the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects process and pass them to local authorities (Shankleman 2014). The effects of such moves could be significant but are rarely researched.

Siting matters

A key message from the existing research is that siting matters to how the public responds. Public attitudes and the likelihood of resistance are affected by how a project is perceived to impact upon existing landscapes and visual amenity (Wolsink, 2000), ways of life (Pasqualetti, 2011) and place attachments (Devine-Wright, 2009). There is a sizeable technical literature that describes how energy infrastructure might be designed or placed in the landscape to minimise visual effects (for a review see Pasqualetti et al., 2002). GIS-based mapping and visualisation tools have been used to show how the supply of different renewables changes across time and place (Blaschke et al., 2013), where the areas of greatest renewable energy potential are located (Palmas al., 2014) and where there is community capacity to accommodate new developments (Martinkus et al., 2014). One result of these mapping and visualisation tools has been to show the (often) limited spatial scope for developing renewables that are free from environmental constraints (Palmas al., 2014) - a typical example is the tendency for high wind resource areas to also be uplands that are valued for their landscape qualities. However, the usefulness of mapping and visualisation tools in actual decision-making contexts is rarely tested. Research tends to be dominated by assessments of technical and economic potential for energy development (Cowell, 2010) and, although the scope for public input is acknowledged (Blaschke et al., 2013), it is rarely demonstrated.

Proximity is not a simple indicator of public attitudes

Various governments have deployed 'separation distances' to govern how close wind turbines can be to the nearest dwellings, or other environmental standards. DECC commissioned research into the phenomenon of sound pollution from wind farms in Spring 2015. Haggett

(2012) examined the social experience of noise from wind farms and concluded that whether sound is experienced as intrusive noise reflected people's wider attitudes to wind energy projects. Sound, like landscape impacts, may be more acceptable to people if they feel that they have been properly involved in development decisions. Jones and Eiser (2010) used a survey to investigate the attitudes of Sheffield residents to nearby and distant, onshore and offshore wind energy developments. They concluded that while participants favoured offshore developments, their attitudes to nearby onshore projects were not solely determined by how close they were, but also by their concerns about the visual impact of the turbines on the landscape.

Spatial zoning aids development but does not prevent public objection

Planning bodies have used spatial zones to specify areas that may be more or less suitable for renewable energy development, especially for wind energy. Research in the UK has concluded that government-directed 'strategic search areas' for large wind energy development in Wales has supported more extensive wind farm development and stimulated developer interest. However, it has not prevented significant public objections to wind and associated grid projects or speeded up development (Power and Cowell, 2012). In Scotland, advisory constraints mapping from Scottish Natural Heritage has helped some wind farms avoid more sensitive areas, but it has not always been complied with by developers (see Smart et al., 2014).

Spatial zoning for energy may restrict opportunities

It is important to be clear about what spatial zoning does and does not achieve. Spatial zoning is useful for 'screening out' from energy infrastructure development the most environmentally sensitive areas and sites most likely to result in conflict (Martinkus et al.,2014; Thygesen and Agarwal, 2014). Spatial zoning for renewable energy may assist in coordinating development with grid connection corridors: Zichella and Hladik (2013) argue this has been achieved to good effect in Texas. They also argue that guiding energy generation to areas of spare grid capacity may remove the need for new infrastructure. They suggest using spatial planning to aid coordination between renewable energy development and available grid capacity. However, such zoning and mapping exercises rarely capture the complexity of environmental impacts (Christie al., 2014), landscape character (Antonson, 2009), place attachments and identities felt by local publics. As a result, wind energy projects that 'fit' within designated development zones can still be highly contentious.

In its 2005 planning guidance, the Welsh Government introduced 'strategic search areas' (SSAs) in which there was a presumption in favour of large-scale wind energy. These were drawn up by mapping existing major landscape and other environmental constraints and landscape analysis. However the zoning exercise did not eliminate environmental concerns arising from projects within the SSAs (such as on peat). Communities remained concerned that values they attached to landscapes within these areas – notably for tourism – were neglected (Cowell, 2007, 2010).

Zoning also risks unnecessarily restricting development opportunities; a common refrain of the energy industry itself. In France, Nadai (2012) showed how creative actions *within* protected areas could result in siting solutions that balanced wind energy development with bird protection. Similarly, Palmas, Siewart & von Haaren (2014) comment on the way that 'exclusion zones' are treated as undifferentiated spaces, even though areas within them may be more or less able to accommodate some renewable energy development.

Combining spatial zoning with community and/or financial benefits fosters public acceptance

Research in the UK and elsewhere shows that spatial zoning is only effective in shaping local government and public reactions to infrastructure projects when it is combined with other factors. In France, local areas can be designated as potential wind power development zones. When a project is proposed in these zones it triggers the payment of community benefits (Nadai, 2007). In Germany, local planning designates zones for wind farms but it is community ownership of the projects rather than zoning that leads to more positive public reactions (Szarka, 2007). The effect of different ownership models and community benefits is discussed below.

Research has shown that distance from infrastructure is a weak indicator of whether people feel positive or negative about projects (with those closest and most exposed to potential impacts being most negative) (e.g. Jones and Eiser, 2010). Indeed, it is often the reverse, with positive or negative attitudes about the rightness of the infrastructure in a particular location affecting whether visual or sound effects are seen as problematic, regardless of how close they are (Firestone, Bates & Knapp, 2015; Haggett 2012). Because of this, there are limits to how far zoning exercises can identify fully acceptable locations.

Similar findings come from research that examines public engagement with 'landscape capacity' for on-shore wind (Jones et al, 2011). This shows that general attitudes to energy and beliefs about the distributive fairness of the impacts of energy development, affect the amount of development people feel can be accommodated. Consequently it is difficult to work out the capacity of a landscape to accommodate a technology, based on visual or other environmental impact criteria, because for the public, attitudes to sites and siting cannot be separated easily from attitudes to technologies and places.

Spatial zoning, place attachment and local identity impact on social acceptance

Strategic spatial zoning can be more useful in coordinating major stakeholders (energy generation developers and grid network companies, development interests and statutory environmental bodies) than in wholly pre-empting issues of local social acceptability (Cowell, 2010). This may explain why spatial zoning is seen as more effective by planners in marine environments (Jay, 2012) as it has been presumed by stakeholders that siting energy infrastructure (e.g. wind farms) at sea, distant from private properties and therefore 'NIMBY' concerns, will be less controversial and more efficient (Walker et al., 2010). However, although public acceptability might be less of an issue with offshore wind energy (e.g. Firth of Forth) without a fully inclusive approach to stakeholder engagement there is evidence that this does not prevent objection from key stakeholders (such as fishermen) (O'Keeffe & Haggett, 2012).

Whether spatial zoning interventions lead to public acceptance also depends on the wider arrangements for infrastructure decision-making. Research shows that zoning exercises created and imposed 'top-down', by regional or national government, without local buy-in, can become a focus for opposition and often fail to achieve the targeted level of development (Wolsink, 1996; Moragues-Faus and Ortiz-Miranda, 2010; Cowell, 2010). One solution, therefore, might be to allow greater local government and public input into such spatial mapping or zoning exercises. Since the National Planning Policy Framework (Communities and Local Government, 2011), this is now encouraged in England. However, bottom-up approaches beg a wider question - should local publics and councils be allowed to define the limits to growth of different kinds of energy generation? Evidence from Sweden (Bergek, 2010) shows that some communities may define very few areas as acceptable for renewable energy development (such as on-shore wind). To address this, Barry and Ellis (2010) suggest that local communities should be allowed to identify the carbon-reduction strategies that work best for them, rather than being required to accept specific technologies.

The 'optimum' balance or procedures for national-local relations has not received much research attention. Cowell (2007) found that more people became engaged in the Welsh Government's spatial strategy for on-shore wind than its various 'higher-level' target-setting strategies. This suggests that public engagement is higher when spatial representations of possible energy futures are provided and consideration is given to the availability of acceptable sites (Cowell, 2010). Prompting deliberation and learning about energy futures is another important dimension of 'what works' in infrastructure decision-making, and spatial planning strategies seem better at stimulating this.

Key message – work with, not against, local identities and place attachments

The key message for spatial planning interventions is that developers might achieve greater local social acceptability for projects if they site and design them in ways which work with, rather than against, local identities and place attachments (Devine-Wright & Howes, 2010). However, achieving the detailed investigation required to understand places will depend as much on effective public engagement as strategic spatial planning.

1.2 Methods of public engagement that work well

Rowe and Frewer (2000) distinguish three types of public engagement:

- **Communication** involves one-way information flow from the 'sponsor' (in UK infrastructure siting, this is typically a private company) to the public, for example using leaflets and web based materials.
- **Consultation** involves two-way information flow between 'sponsor' and publics, but the information flows back without any substantive dialogue between the parties (e.g. using phone lines or questionnaires).
- **Participation** involves a two-way exchange of information with the possibility of opinion change in both parties.

Three predominant rationales for undertaking public participation have been identified: normative, substantive and instrumental (Sterling, 2006).

- The normative rationale is the view that involving members of the public is the right thing to
 do, for example in a democracy it can be thought right and proper to seek citizens' views
 before making decisions on their behalf.
- The substantive rationale means that public participation is undertaken because it is believed to improve the quality of decision-making.
- An instrumental rationale means that public participation is undertaken because it is believed to increase the likelihood of achieving a pre-determined goal, for example to promote greater social acceptance, or achieving regulatory compliance (Howard, 2015).

One of the most comprehensive reviews conducted on the role and value of public participation in the environmental domain was funded by the US National Research Council (Dietz and Stern, 2008). The review concluded that public participation does improve decision-making along the dimensions of quality, legitimacy and capacity, and that these criteria are positively correlated: processes that enhance decision-quality tend to improve legitimacy and enhance capacity.

Public engagement through processes of communication and consultation has become conventional in UK infrastructure siting over the two past decades and incorporated into

planning regulations (e.g. 2008 Planning Act), moving away from what had been criticised as a 'Decide-Announce-Defend' approach characterised by minimal information provision prior to planning submissions (Walker, 2009). Alongside this, public participation has become an increasingly common feature of many sectors of policy and decision-making, with the Aarhus convention introducing a legal commitment upon national governments to enable public access to environmental information, participation in environmental decision-making, and access to justice on environmental matters (United Nations, 2014). Despite this, the scope for genuine public participation in decision-making over infrastructure siting (i.e. not just rhetoric) is a matter of considerable debate in the academic literature (e.g. Hindmarsh and Matthews, 2008), on the basis that the different actors involved (e.g. national governments, local residents, private companies, environmental groups) hold different agendas and levels of influence over decision-making. As some groups have more power than others, and there are vested interests in the outcome of these decisions, the capacity for all affected communities to influence decisions may be undermined.

There is consensus that a lack of early and genuine public engagement leads to conflicts

Literature reviewed for this report showed a high level of consensus over the substantive value of public participation in infrastructure siting. This conclusion was found in both UK and international research, and across technology sectors, including wind energy (Aitken et al., 2014), nuclear power (Richardson et al. 2013), electricity power lines (Cotton and Devine-Wright, 2013), CCS (Customer Insight Group 2011; Brunsting et al., 2011) and shale gas (TNSBMRB, 2014). One of the reasons why this finding is so consistent is that analyses of conflicts over infrastructure siting consistently reveal the significance of procedural injustice as a key factor explaining public objections to technologies such as wind power, large-scale solar and grid powerlines (e.g. Gross, 2007; Zoellner et al., 2008). For example, Devine-Wright (2013) found that procedural justice (measured in a survey using items such as "Decision making about the powerline has involved opportunities for local people to have a say") was the most significant factor in explaining local objections to a proposed high voltage powerline in South West England. That said, public concerns over procedural and distributive justice (about how fair a process was, and how fair they consider the distribution of benefits) do not inevitably lead to siting conflicts. This was apparent in a tidal energy case in Northern Ireland that was characterized by little local involvement or financial benefit provision, yet high levels of public support. This was explained by the fact the communities affected by the project held low expectations of involvement in planning decisions, and received symbolic benefits from a project that was seen to boost the distinctiveness of the area, enhancing local identities and place attachments (Devine-Wright, 2011a).

Research consistently suggests that public engagement may be more effective if commenced at an 'early stage' of infrastructure siting (or 'upstream', Wilsden and Willis, 2004; Chilvers and Burgess, 2008), since late engagement occurs after key decisions have been taken on details such as routing, under or over grounding of power lines, scale of wind farm etc. This is particularly important for less familiar or emergent technologies such as hydrogen (Flynn et al, 2011) and shale gas (TNSBMRB, 2014) to enable the incorporation of public values and responses into technology development pathways (including design). For example:

'We want to be engaged in decision-making processes at an early stage, rather than being consulted at the last minute, when decisions have already been taken and agendas have already been set' (quoted in Wolsink, 2011, p.84).

There is evidence that engagement should continue across the lifetime of infrastructure projects (from pre-planning to decommissioning) and that feedback on how proposals have been modified arising from a dialogue with affected communities can serve to enhance trust between parties and increase social acceptance of proposals (Aitken et al., 2014).

For engagement activities to be perceived as genuine, trust is essential. Where developers are not trusted by local residents, publics may be sceptical that engagement activities are genuine, and be less willing to volunteer to participate.

Trust is an additional factor that influences the outcomes of public engagement

Another consistent feature of social science research on conflicts over infrastructure siting (alongside procedural injustice) is that lack of trust in developers is associated with objections to siting proposals (e.g. Devine-Wright, 2013; Midden and Huijts, 2009). Some have proposed that the impact of lack of trust is particularly strong when the technology is less familiar (e.g. hydrogen, Flynn et al., 2011; carbon capture and storage, Huijts et al, 2012).

Disengagement or active protest may follow if publics doubt that their opinions are genuinely listened to, or that their input will lead to tangible changes to infrastructure proposals. It is therefore problematic that several studies have revealed how members of the public do not expect local residents to have a high degree of influence upon decision making for the siting of high voltage power lines, in comparison to industry (e.g. National Grid) or policy actors (Devine-Wright et al., 2010; Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014). Although public engagement is mandatory for power line siting under the terms of the 2008 Planning Act, these perceptions of a lack of public influence over planning decisions reveal concerns that such engagement is tokenist in nature. It has also been shown that a strong national policy position in favour of a technology or energy source (e.g. shale gas) can lead to citizens having doubts about the fairness of local planning procedures and the possibilities for local residents' objections to have any impact upon consent decisions (TNSBMRB, 2014; Upham and Shackley, 2006).

There are benefits to employing locally based intermediaries

One set of practices that 'works' in infrastructure siting is when private developers from outside of a community of locality, use locally based intermediaries (e.g. community liaison officers) to enable information flows in both directions (Customer Insight Team, 2011). For example, in one study, the use of intermediaries in two contrasting UK offshore wind energy cases was compared (one with high conflict, the other with low) (Devine-Wright, 2012). It was concluded that arranging for a local primary school teacher to speak to local residents and schoolchildren about climate change, the specific technology (offshore wind) and the local project proposal led to greater awareness of an infrastructure project and its outcomes, wider social acceptance, and increased trust in the developer.

How developers think about publics (e.g. as NIMBYs) shapes public engagement

The literature also discusses why, despite the evidence, genuine public participation may often not occur with infrastructure siting. Several studies have investigated how policy makers and developers think about publics generally, and in particular the local residents who are directly affected by infrastructure projects. Much of this literature focuses upon the 'NIMBY' (Not In My Back Yard) label, which implies that objectors lack rationality, objectivity and public mindedness (Walker et al., 2011; Barnett et al, 2012; Cotton and Devine-Wright, 2011; Burningham et al., 2014). This label has been strongly critiqued by social scientists as not being a fair, accurate or helpful description of objectors (e.g. Burningham, 2000; Devine-Wright, 2005a; Ellis et al., 2007).

Research suggests that when informed by preconceptions that locals are 'NIMBY', public engagement is driven by instrumental rationales, with a predominant focus upon one-way communication of information (to address presumed information deficits), and the avoidance of certain engagement methods (e.g. public meetings), since they afford objectors the opportunity to gather en masse and protest against technology proposals (Barnett et al., 2012). Regarding

the public as 'NIMBYs' leads developers to emphasise the provision of financial incentives (to address presumed selfishness and lack of public mindedness), attempt to site technologies distant from human settlements (e.g. offshore wind energy), and hold a preference against early timing of engagement, to prevent the raising of unnecessary levels of concern amongst publics (Walker et al., 2011; Cotton and Devine-Wright, 2011). By contrast, academics' support for the substantive benefits of public participation is often founded upon a more positive conception of the abilities and capacities of publics, for example when characterised as 'local experts' or 'place protectors' (Devine-Wright, 2009) with the overall conclusion that genuine public participation is less likely to occur when publics are conceived as NIMBYs.

There are Interaction effects between engagement and benefit provision

Recent research has shown how public engagement and benefit provision (i.e. procedural and distributional justice) are related in cases of infrastructure siting. A Dutch study with a quasi-experimental design showed that the provision of a 'community incentive' led to higher levels of social acceptance when the developer had consulted on the incentive with the local community (TerWel et al., 2014). A Scottish study showed that how decisions were taken over the ways that community benefits were spent could lead to conflict amongst local residents (Aiken, 2010). These findings show the systemic nature of infrastructure siting – specific aspects (e.g. benefits provision) are not viewed in isolation by publics, but in relation to other relevant aspects of those proposals (e.g. whether procedures of decision-making are seen as fair). The implication of this finding is that a piecemeal approach to a single aspect of 'what works' is unlikely to lead to successful outcomes or desired policy goals.

1.3 The impact of different models of project ownership

Diverse models of project ownership exist

An important factor shaping public acceptance of energy infrastructure is the model of ownership. In the UK there are many different types of ownership models (Brophy and Pollitt, 2013), from the more usual, commercial schemes developed by private companies through to schemes in which local communities are in charge of the development and own the final product. Between these 'poles', there are a lot of other models: joint ventures between community organisations and private companies; community ownership as shareholders or managers; taking dividends or using profits for collective social purposes (Strachan et al, 2015). The 'community' that owns a community energy project might be a community of place, a collection of shareholders from a wider geographical area, or a particular sector (e.g. local farmers).

Community led and owned energy projects have higher levels of public acceptance than conventional commercial schemes

'Community renewables' are renewable energy generation projects in which local communities have a significant role in developing the project and receive most or all of the financial benefits. Community renewables can have wider benefits: shares of profits may be invested in other, local sustainable energy initiatives; technology type and size may be considered more locally appropriate, and scheme development may foster skills and capacities that can be applied to future development (Slee 2015; Van der Horst, 2008). There is good evidence to suggest that community renewables projects have a higher level of local public acceptance than conventional commercial schemes (Devine-Wright, 2005b; Rogers et al., 2008; Cowell et al., 2007; Warren and McFadyen, 2010). Similar results have been found in Denmark and Germany, where higher market penetration of wind energy has been attributed to sustained public support, founded partly on models of development that have higher levels of local, citizen ownership than the UK (Walker, 2008).

Community renewables projects are seen as less exploitative than private schemes, and generate a greater 'subjective' sense of ownership as well as formal ownership among local publics. The popularity of the community windfarm on the Isle of Gigha, Scotland, christened locally 'the three dancing ladies', is a good example (Warren and McFadyen, 2010).

Only one study has directly compared public acceptance of company and community-owned energy projects. Warren and McFadyen (2010) compared the responses of people living in two parts of Scotland – one where commercial wind farms were common (Kintyre) and another with a community owned wind farm (Gigha). The study found that participants were much more in favour of wind power generally in Gigha by comparison to Kintyre. It also found that community ownership was associated with higher levels of public support than company-led development. For Gigha respondents, 45% said that they would be more supportive of a new windfarm if it was community owned, and none expressed a negative attitude. For Kintyre respondents, 65% said that their support for a new wind farm would decrease if owned by a commercial company.

Community ownership does not guarantee local acceptance or planning consent

However, the relationship between community ownership, local acceptance and positive planning outcomes is rarely straightforward. Firstly, projects and contexts vary:

- greater localisation of the flows of financial benefits (distributive justice) is a commonly
 perceived benefit of community renewable energy projects, but some projects localise
 benefit flows more than others, and the distribution of benefits between groups can be
 contentious (Walker and Devine-Wright, 2008);
- greater public engagement and control over siting and design (procedural justice) is seen as an advantage of community renewables but some community project developers are more effective than others in engaging local publics (see Howard, 2015);
- and some communities are more cohesive than others.

Secondly, achieving majority local public support does not automatically translate into swift planning consent. Sometimes it does: the Bro Dyfi Community Renewables turbine achieved a positive planning result, despite being just outside a National Park (Cowell et al., 2007). Haggett et al. (2013) found that community energy projects pass more quickly through planning processes than commercial projects with community involvement, and both are quicker than wholly commercial schemes. But swift, positive outcomes are not guaranteed: the Awel Aman Tawe windfarm in the Swansea Valley went through successive applications and appeals over ten years, despite majority support in the local community. Protracted timescales can arise for community renewables for several reasons:

- negotiating environmental regulations and providing impact information is more burdensome for community schemes, which are often organised by volunteers with limited resources (Seyfang et al., 2013);
- planning decisions give little specific weight to whether schemes are going to be owned by community bodies (Slee, 2015; Strachan et al., 2015);
- financial resources can be limited, leaving projects dependent on government-funded grant/loan schemes (Walker, 2008).

Arguably, the biggest 'limit' to the positive potential of community renewable lies in the very scope for such schemes. Community-led, community owned renewable energy projects remain a minor feature of UK energy infrastructure, requiring:

- places to have existing, active organisations (such as transitions towns, or social enterprises);
- a shared and immediate sense of dissatisfaction with the *status quo* (as on islands otherwise dependent on diesel generators);
- skilled and committed individuals;
- adequate access to land (Strachan et al., 2015).

These conditions are not found everywhere and the pace of replication (e.g. by learning) is likely to be slow. The weak organisation of the community renewable sector, and its limited influence on core energy policy agendas, has also been a factor (Bomberg and McEwen, 2012; Strachan et al., 2015).

Shared ownership models

Community ownership could be increased by adopting models in which communities took less direct responsibility for development e.g. owning a portion of a conventional commercial schemes (DECC, 2014e), or local authority leadership, or through schemes where ownership is secured by share-ownership, perhaps obtained from a wider spatial area. This is mandatory in Denmark, where 20% of the equity in a commercial wind farm must be released for community ownership. These are 'thinner' definitions of community ownership but nevertheless may be more applicable to more places, larger projects and larger numbers of energy infrastructure projects (Strachan et al., 2015). However – other than the widely reported positive example of Fintry, where the community owns one fifteenth share of the profits in a fifteen-turbine commercial wind farm (Cowell et al., 2012), and supported the developer's overall ambitions in the planning process – there is little research available to how these models affect public acceptance. Given UK government intentions for shared ownership to become conventional in renewable energy projects (DECC, 2014e), research is required to investigate whether and how alternative ownership models influence what works in actual cases of infrastructure siting.

Community ownership and large-scale infrastructure siting

Rarely is consideration given to alternative models of ownership for massive, capital-intensive or linear energy infrastructure (e.g. nuclear power, grid networks). That said, use of a share issue for part or whole ownership of the infrastructure can serve to create a novel community of interest around the project, as has been the case with a Danish example of cooperative energy – the Middlegrunden offshore wind farm in Copenhagen (Haggett, 2008). It is also interesting to note that in Germany, there are moves to retake energy infrastructure back into public ownership (e.g. Hamburg and Berlin city grid networks, Moss, 2014).

1.4 The impact of community benefit provision

The prevalence and value of community benefits has increased since the 1990s

An important development accompanying the expansion of energy infrastructure in the UK since the mid-1990s has been the growing use of 'community benefits'. This can be defined as the provision by the developer of a project of some form of positive provision (in addition to jobs and incomes) for the area and people affected by the infrastructure development. The typical community benefit provision in the year 2000 was the payment of an annual fund by the

developer of a wind farm to the parish in which it was located, equivalent to £1,000 per megawatt of installed capacity.

Since 2000 community benefits have expanded in scale, become more diverse in form, been applied to more energy sectors, and attracted government interest (Cowell et al., 2007, 2012; Cass et al., 2010; DECC, 2014e). Community benefit payments are now routine for on-shore wind projects, and some schemes now offer more than £5.000/MW/annum, meaning that for very large wind farms (such as Pen-y-Cymoedd in south Wales), annual payments exceed £1million. In-kind benefit provision sometimes replaces monetary payments: one example is the Lincs offshore wind project, where developers funded visitor facilities at Gibraltar Point National Nature Reserve (Devine-Wright, 2012); another is the guite widespread channelling of a proportion of benefit funds into local sustainable energy projects (Bristow et al., 2012). A more recent trend is the interest in providing low tariff electricity to communities living near energy projects (see box below). Community benefit packages have become a feature of new nuclear generation projects, waste repositories, offshore renewables (also through the re-allocation of royalties from the Coastal Communities Fund of the Crown Estate), fracking wells, and have been raised in conjunction with linear infrastructure like electricity grid lines (RGI, 2011). Governments have sought to give more legitimacy, consistency and encouragement to community benefits.

Good Energy announced a 'local electricity tariff' available to households living within 2km of an onshore wind farm in Delabole, Cornwall. Switching to this tariff was claimed to potentially save eligible households £110 per annum derived from a 20% discount on the company's standard electricity tariffs, plus the potential to receive an annual 'windfall' dependent upon the annual output of the wind farm. This development is only possible where the owners of generating plant also act as suppliers selling power direct to customers, which is often complicated to achieve in the UK's electricity markets.

(sourced from 'goodenergy.co.uk' on March 2015)

What is not clear from this activity is whether community benefits 'work' for infrastructure siting and public acceptance. It is unclear partly because research has not caught up with practice (and research grounded in practice is especially limited) but it is also unclear because 'what works' with community benefits has multiple dimensions.

There is a complex relationship between community benefits and social acceptance

It is generally thought that community benefits 'work' by improving the local social acceptability of projects. There is an intuitive sense to this in that concern about distributive unfairness is a common dimension of public opposition to new energy infrastructure – that costs are imposed on communities while people elsewhere enjoy the benefits. However, there is limited and contradictory evidence that the provision of community benefits promotes local social acceptability, improves trust in developers (Cass et al., 2010; Gallagher et al., 2008), or speeds up the delivery of infrastructure development. In some places, especially the more economically disadvantaged, jobs and income provision through infrastructure construction and operation have provided sufficient benefit to ensure local support (Cowell et al., 2012). In other places, community benefits have been used to support local social infrastructure over a number of years and this has resulted in a more positive attitude to energy infrastructures, for example, the community council of Carno, mid-Wales earns benefits from three on-shore wind farms (Bristow et al., 2012). However, it is hard to establish how far (how often, or where) the provision of community benefits has really changed public views. Decision-making processes for the largest

infrastructures, as noted in 2.1 above, often entail issuing consents for projects that are in line with national policy even without widespread local acceptance. No matter what a community thinks about community benefits, communities often have no right of veto over infrastructure decision and community benefits are not currently a formal part of planning decisions.

Community benefit provision can undermine social acceptance

Although there is little evidence that community benefits cause local public opposition, in circumstances where conflict has already emerged then community benefit provisions can have exacerbating effects. Community benefits can be seen as 'bribes'; devices to 'buy' support or to silence objectors (Cass et al., 2010), which reduces social acceptance (Walker et al., 2014), causes mistrust in developers and in the UK, increases anxiety about the purchasing of planning permission (Cowell et al., 2011). Academics point out that benefits can be divisive (Cass et al., 2010), when there are disputes over who should be eligible to benefit (Aitken, 2010), and difficulties in working out – in line with discussions in Section 1 – who is 'the community' that should benefit (Bristow et al., 2012). In the case analysed by Aitken (2010), it was felt that parties that had opposed the windfarm should not be eligible to receive community benefit funds. Disputes can also arise between those who prefer to see benefits concentrated on the communities nearest to the infrastructure and those who prefer to see some of the benefits allocated to a wider constituency, and thereby targeted on wider social needs (Cowell et al., 2011). In terms of distributive fairness, some communities are very aware that the payments per MW of energy they might receive as community benefits from a commercial developer is a small fraction (typically less than 10%) of what they might receive per megawatt from renewable energy generating facilities that are community-owned (Warren and McFadyen, 2010). When expected economic benefits do not materialise there is the possibility that 'conditional supporters' of energy projects may turn into active opponents (Hitzeroth and Megerie, 2013).

Research does suggest that, procedurally, community benefits can be provided in ways that reduce the likelihood of conflict. Where developers discuss community benefits at an early stage rather than as the planning decision approaches, it is less likely to cause mistrust. For example, in the case of the Gwynt y Mor offshore wind farm in North Wales, two years passed between the developer's announcement of the submission for planning consent (November 2005) and announcement of details of the community benefits package (November 2007). At that stage, opposition to the project was well established, many local residents mistrusted the developer and the benefit offer was seen as a 'bribe to silence opposition' (Cass et al., 2010). Some developers, conversely, suggest that it is difficult to be specific about the level of community benefits available while project scale or funding remains uncertain (e.g. where potentially costly grid connection issues remain unresolved) (Cass et al., 2010).

Community benefits may lack transparency, either at a project level (because it is not clear what level of benefits has been achieved, for whom and why), or across projects (making it difficult for communities faced with infrastructure to learn what has been achieved elsewhere (Cowell et al., 2011). Steps taken by DECC (2014e) to follow Scotland in creating a register of community benefits may be helpful here (see also Hitzeroth and Megerie, 2013). Community benefits may be more positively received where communities feel they have been effectively engaged in decision-making (TerWel et al., 2014). Experimental research by Zaal et al. (2014) has shown that publics could be more accepting of compensation payments in conjunction with risky facilities if they feel that the benefits and costs are morally equivalent to each other (e.g. not where financial payments are provided to accept projects that threaten human life).

Research identifies two trends in community benefit provision that may reduce the potential for conflict. One is that as the amount of community benefit increases, so it becomes possible to satisfy more people, both those very immediate to the infrastructure and wider groups. The second is that as communities become more familiar with community benefit funds over time,

perhaps from a succession of energy infrastructure projects, they will become more flexible in how and where they would be prepared to see the monies allocated: Carno, mid-Wales, is a good example (Bristow et al., 2012); so too is Argyll and Bute (see below).

After responding in an ad hoc way to a succession of windfarms, Argyll and Bute Council adopted a more strategic and consistent approach to community benefits. This voluntary approach set down recommended minimum sums per MW that it would expect to see from developers and encouraged developers to split the funds as follows: 60% to the immediate local community through a local trust fund or equivalent, and, 40% to the wider Argyll and Bute Community through supporting the work of the Argyll, Lomond and the Islands Energy Agency (Alienergy). Alienergy has channelled these revenues into energy efficiency improvements across the whole county. (For a review, see Cowell et al., 2012)

Community benefits can increase community's perception that a project is fair

This returns us to wider questions of 'what works'. As shown above, there is some evidence that the provision of community benefits (a) makes infrastructure projects more acceptable to people and (b) thereby changes the dynamics or outcomes of local planning processes. However, this instrumental role in project delivery is not the only function of community benefits. Such benefits can also serve justice, in that they compensate publics for the loss of environmental value caused by the construction and presence of new energy infrastructure (Cowell et al., 2012). Indeed, research suggests that this is often how key stakeholders think about community benefits (Cowell et al., 2011). It can also be seen as serving wider distributive fairness; allowing publics living with or affected by energy infrastructure to share in the benefits that it creates. There is a link here with developers' preference for seeing community benefits as a demonstration of corporate social responsibility to the host community. This rationale may be particularly important for technologies like on-shore wind that provide relatively few jobs to the rural locations in which they are situated (Munday et al., 2011).

These wider ethical roles might all be seen as helping infrastructure development processes to work better for local publics. One might hope that they foster more positive public attitudes to infrastructure development (and more research might tease out how far this is true); but they can also serve purposes of justice whether or not attitudes are changed.

1.5 How the national energy narrative might affect 'what works'

Every infrastructure project involves a 'need case' to be presented by the developer to impacted communities that sets out *why* such infrastructure is required. Typically, the need case is justified by citing national policies (e.g. on energy or climate change) or global environmental benefits (e.g. reduced greenhouse gas emissions). When there is a lack of consensus across society about the legitimacy of certain policies, or about the value of such infrastructure provision for the nation as a whole, this 'need case' can be challenged, often by a combination of communities of locality and communities of interest (e.g. cases of new nuclear, more recently in the case of shale gas).

The consequence is a debate about why local places should be 'sacrificed' for national or global benefits that are themselves disputed (e.g. Ellis et al., 2007; Groves et al., 2013). This has led to some academics diagnosing a disconnection between national target setting and local infrastructure siting, and calling for better ways to connect local siting and national policy to ensure that the gap is more effectively bridged (Devine-Wright, 2011c; Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014).

The Energiewende as an example of a national energy narrative

An often-cited example is Germany's 'Energiewende' (or 'energy transition'), where a national energy narrative has been constructed about the transition away from nuclear and fossil fuel energies towards renewable energy and energy efficiency. Of significance is the fact that the national energy transition involves significant citizen input, for example in the form of citizen share purchase in new wind farms (Moss, 2014) and mechanisms for involving publics in the planning of new power lines.

Steinbach (2013) noted that implementing early participation at various consultations phases was very successful in the establishment of the first grid development plan (as well as transparency in information provision and determination of the need case for new powerlines). The process had two stages:

- 1. an 'upstream' consultation on national energy futures (e.g. future energy mixes) to determine 10 year grid upgrade plans;
- 2. consultation on starting and end points of particular new lines.

The German case offers a contrast to the processes that led to the 2008 Planning Act and the creation of the National Policy Statements (NPSs) that inform and regulate infrastructure siting in the UK (see section 2.1). Although the energy NPS required under the Planning Act 2008 were subject to wide public consultation, including national events in different parts of the country and Parliamentary scrutiny (DECC, 2010), it did not result in an inclusive narrative. Researchers have been critical that this new consenting system serves mainly to confine the scope for discussion on need and wider environmental objections (Lee et al., 2015), and allows private developers considerable scope to define the national interest (Groves et al., 2013).

National level public engagement with energy infrastructure and policies

Examples in the UK of national level participatory energy engagement are few and recent, including DECC's Big Energy Shift and ScienceWise public dialogues. However, whilst these have engaged publics with national policy-making, and sometimes used deliberative methods, they differ from an Energiewende process in being of limited scope (e.g. taking a focus on a particular technology sector or specific communities of locality - shale gas, TNSBMRB, 2014) and scale of deployment (households and communities, for more information see Rathouse and Devine-Wright, 2010).

The 2050 calculator and related engagement activities represent an attempt to engage with publics on energy system change, but to date it has not been undertaken as part of a widespread and planned campaign of national engagement over diverse energy futures. The UKERC funded research project conducted by the University of Cardiff (Pidgeon et al., 2014) offers an example of an in-depth, deliberative public engagement activity at a more systemic or national energy system level. This project drew on the 2050 calculator to scope public acceptability of diverse energy future pathways encompassing both supply and demand. Whilst infrastructure siting was not the main focus of the research, the findings have relevance to this report for revealing shared values that were observed to underlie the acceptability of system change, specifically 'autonomy', 'fairness' and 'social justice', which suggest that publics expect national infrastructure policy making to reflect similar aspects of procedural and distributional fairness that have been found in relation to specific local cases of infrastructure siting. Similarly, Ek and Persson (2014) report on an economic valuation study, conducted in Sweden, which showed that the general public were more likely to support higher subsidies for wind energy where local people were involved in decision-making processes and have some ownership of schemes.

In terms of what works, evidence suggests that involving publics in national policy making is both possible and beneficial, when carefully conducted using deliberative methods of public participation. However, we do not yet have evidence on whether such national level deliberations, in turn, enhance the legitimacy and acceptability of local infrastructure siting.

Section 3: Discussion, gaps and research suggestions

This section examines four core assumptions that affect 'what works':

i) definitions, ii) technologies, iii) publics; and iv) places, followed by gaps in the literature and suggestions for further research.

2.1 Discussion

Definitions of 'What works'

For much of the last fifteen years 'what works' has been defined – in the UK and elsewhere – predominantly in terms of delivery. That is, decision-making works if infrastructure is given planning consent within predictable time frames. 'Delay' is a key part of 'what does not work' (Hyder Consulting, 2013). This is based, in part, by the need to meet binding targets for greenhouse gas emission reduction and renewable energy expansion (see, for example, Gibson and Howsham, 2010) deemed to require an enormous amount of infrastructure investment. Key changes to decision-making systems have centred on creating policies that 'work' because they are believed to help realise these desired qualities of effectiveness, efficiency and predictability.

However, there are other ways of thinking about 'what works' beyond efficient or rapid infrastructure delivery. There is evidence that British people believe that decisions on energy infrastructure should include people affected in a fair and democratic way (Parkhill et al., 2012), and societies may also be interested in achieving *procedural* and *distributive* justice. Procedural justice is when decision-making procedures are fair; they allow publics and organised actors adequate opportunity to engage in decisions that affect them. Distributive justice is when the distribution of costs and benefits between places and social groups arising from infrastructure siting and construction is seen as fair (Cowell et al., 2012). While facilitating infrastructure delivery may reflect inter-generational justice (because future generations should inherit a liveable climate and more sustainable system of energy provision), these other dimensions of justice within present generations are also important. Researchers also identify a wider democratic role for project-based participatory processes in allowing public reflection on substantive issues that define 'national needs' for infrastructure (Groves et al., 2013).

This is important because different conceptions of 'what works' – delivery, procedural justice, distributive justice – are not always necessarily mutually compatible. There can be mutual reinforcement – e.g. between measures which enhance procedural justice and increase the likelihood of positive planning decisions – but also tensions, such as between fostering deeper public engagement and accelerating decisions. However, even where improving procedural or distributive justice does not 'work' in obtaining planning permission for infrastructure or fostering public acceptance of infrastructure projects, each dimension is still of value in its own right and constitutes a quality of decision-making processes that 'work'.

Different forms of technology and 'what works'

As stated in the introduction, this review encompasses a diverse array of large-scale energy infrastructures, from wind farms, to high voltage power lines to nuclear power stations to carbon capture and storage. The evidence base varies in quantity by technology type, with larger numbers of studies conducted on more established or more controversial technologies, for example onshore wind energy and nuclear power in comparison to more recent or less controversial technology types. The implications of technology type for 'what works' is significant. Although we generalise from specific technologies to infrastructures more generally in this report, it is nonetheless important to recognise key differences between them, such as:

- technical configuration (e.g. linear versus site-specific footprints, for example high voltage power lines versus a wind farm);
- scale (e.g. nuclear power stations tend to be larger than renewable energy installations);
- local impacts, spanning issues of health (e.g. emissions from biomass combustion), environment (e.g. visual impacts of wind turbines on landscapes) and economy (e.g. employment from nuclear power);
- levels of public familiarity (e.g. higher for nuclear power, lower for carbon capture and storage);
- already mobilised social movements (e.g. against nuclear, onshore wind or the fracking of shale gas).

These differences are also manifest in surveys of general public attitudes towards energy infrastructures, with consistent findings from DECC's Public Attitude Tracker and other sources that renewable energy sources are more positively perceived in comparison to both nuclear power and fossil-fuel energy. While these general attitudes do not in themselves determine local responses, including objections, to infrastructure siting they nevertheless play a role in shaping these responses (e.g. Jones and Eiser, 2009).

Impacts of different ways of thinking about 'the public' or 'publics' on 'what works'

As also discussed in the introduction, social scientists emphasise the problems that arise when presuming a homogeneous 'public' in relation to infrastructure siting. They highlight the diverse ways that groups and individuals engage with energy technologies (e.g. Walker, 1995). Researchers often refer to 'publics' instead of 'the public' (e.g. Barnett et al., 2012) and distinguish between society as a whole, communities of locality (i.e. local residents) and communities of interest (i.e. individuals sharing an attitude or preference, but not living close by). Specific individuals can be members of both types of community at the same time and both are relevant to understanding what can work in engaging communities in the development of new energy infrastructures, since:

- a) communities of locality can link together to form a larger network of supporters or opponents in order to achieve their goals (e.g. 'Somerset Alliance Against Pylons', fighting the Hinkley Point C power line proposals);
- **b)** communities of interest at the national level can link with and seek to influence communities of locality, as well as to lobby policy makers in central Government (e.g. 'National Opposition to Wind Farms'; 'Frack Off').

There are also differences in research design and methods. Societal opinions or attitudes are typically captured using nationally representative questionnaire surveys (e.g. Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014) or focus groups conducted in diverse regions of the UK (e.g. Pidgeon et al.,

2014). Research into communities of locality, by contrast, typically focus on residents living closest to the proposed site of an infrastructure project, using qualitative (e.g. focus groups, Ellis et al., 2007) or quantitative (e.g. surveys, Jones and Eiser, 2010) methods, and sometimes both (e.g. Devine-Wright and Howes, 2010). Importantly, research at the national level tends to focus on general attitudes or opinions towards energy sources or technologies, whilst research at the local level tends to focus on specific attitudes or opinions towards a given project proposal. It is the 'gap' between general attitudes captured at the national level and specific attitudes captured at the local level that is often claimed to be a 'problem' underlying 'NIMBY' responses to infrastructure siting (Aitken, 2010). However, there is no reason why national studies cannot focus on particular examples of infrastructure siting or local studies cannot focus on national energy policies or general attitudes (Batel and Devine-Wright, 2014).

Impacts of different ways of thinking about localities for 'what works'

Locations of infrastructure projects have been thought about in diverse and contrasting ways as 'sites', 'backyards' and 'places' (Devine-Wright, 2011d), each with important consequences for how public engagement is practiced. Research has shown that developers and planners typically see infrastructure locations as 'sites' that are characterised by generic features such as topography, resource availability, proximity to dwellings etc. Such locations may also be seen as 'backyards', linked to 'NIMBY' presumptions about objectors' self-interested and emotional concerns (e.g. reduced property values). Finally, locations can be viewed and talked about in symbolic, personal and emotional ways (i.e. as 'places') that emphasises their unique character. The employment of these different labels is one of the reasons why opposing sides in conflicts over energy infrastructures find it difficult to reach common ground (Drenthen, 2010).

Aside from difficulties in finding a common language, ways of thinking about localities are important for 'what works' because individuals form emotional attachments to particular places, which also become significant for their identity (Altman and Low, 1992; Proshansky et al., 1983). Actual or proposed changes to these locations can cause distress (Fullilove, 2013). However, since developers tend to view infrastructure locations as 'sites', these subjective, emotional bonds are often overlooked or ignored (Devine-Wright, 2011; Cass and Walker, 2009). Reflecting the importance of the perceived 'fit' between place and technology (Devine-Wright, 2009), research has shown that when new proposals match with the existing character of a place this leads to greater acceptance (Venables et al., 2014). When infrastructures are 'industrial' and located in a 'natural' landscape or place (Devine-Wright and Howes, 2010) this leads to greater opposition. For these reasons, it is important that engagement activities attempt to understand how the place and technology are seen by stakeholders as this will help to understand why support and opposition positions exist (McLachlan, 2009). Developers might achieve greater local social acceptability for projects if they site and design them in ways that work with, rather than against, local identities and place attachments (Devine-Wright & Howes, 2010).

2.2 Gaps and suggestions for future research

Gaps in evidence and quality of research

The research base is unbalanced in a number of respects:

- it is biased towards greater coverage of infrastructures that are considered controversial (notably on-shore wind);
- there is a tendency to focus on specific interventions with narrowly defined goals, rather than looking at systems as a whole;
- it is dominated by single case study work, or technical methodological development in which the effects on actual decision-making are not tested.

Because of these weaknesses in the evidence base, it is risky to recommend specific interventions or changes, since the effects are significantly shaped by contextual conditions or the institutional setting. The knowledge base for action would be improved if the following gaps in research were addressed: problem framing, focus and methodology.

i. Gaps in problem framing

- The issue of effective infrastructure siting needs to be viewed as part of a wider system, in which what happens at different levels and across different projects can be mutually effecting.
- The issue of 'what works' needs to more explicitly embrace multiple dimensions instrumental effectiveness as well as procedural and substantive fairness
- In practice, different interventions can coincide (e.g. changing provisions for community benefits coincide with localisation of decisions for on-shore wind and centralising of decisions for offshore wind), and this needs to be reflected in research, to understand how publics relate to combinations of measures.
- Research needs to be alert to wider 'spillover effects', both positive (does engaging with the
 development of energy generation foster increased propensity to save energy?) and more
 problematic (do adverse experiences of project-specific engagement foster other
 oppositional activities?)
- Research needs to more clearly differentiate between (i) effects on social attitudes and (ii)
 effects on planning process dynamics and outcomes, but also how they might be related.
 This could be applied to more systematically examine the effects of community benefit
 provision and community ownership on infrastructure planning processes.

ii. Gaps in focus

- Rather than asking 'local people' about 'local projects', research needs to examine what
 publics living near prospective infrastructure projects feel about broader decision-making
 arrangements, and what the wider public feels about specific infrastructures.
- There is a need to test whether findings gathered from concentrations of research on particular technologies (notably on-shore wind) also apply to other, under-researched technologies (e.g. solar PV, shale gas).
- Research needs to examine the effects of different formats for community benefits on public attitudes, including those subject to recent policy innovations such as shared ownership (DECC 2014e). Outside of Scotland, to investigate whether community energy projects move more quickly through the planning process, followed by commercial projects which have community investment, and whether both are quicker and more likely to be successful than wholly commercially owned projects.
- There is scope for research to address the potential for shared ownership applied to
 massive energy infrastructures (e.g. transmission networks, nuclear power stations), not just
 to renewable energy projects.
- As well as the copious research on project-specific public engagement, there is a clear gap
 in the literature that could be addressed by assessment of the impact of 'upstream'

deliberative methods of community engagement (e.g. citizens panels, pre-application discussions), and how the two affect each other. Examples of evolving engagement processes across these levels in Germany's 'Energiewende' could be identified and evaluated. Whether national level deliberations, in turn, enhance the legitimacy and acceptability of local infrastructure siting is largely untested.

- Potentially, researchers could investigate how the dearth in sub-national actors concerned
 with energy infrastructure may optimally be filled in order to facilitate a sustainable energy
 transition, including a comparative international review of the role of local and regional
 intermediaries (e.g. municipalities, energy agencies, networks).
- Research into possible interventions around (i) actions to increase public trust and decrease perceptions of procedural injustice, (ii) ways to provide 'trusted information' about energy infrastructures to affected communities.
- To investigate how spatial zoning could incorporate participatory modes of public engagement and take account of place attachments and local identities.

iii. Gaps in methodology

- More systematic cross-case analyses, including mapping effects of sets of interventions across sets of technologies
- More research into how certain models or interventions (a mode of providing community benefits, GIS or visualisation tools in spatial planning) work in the field, 'in action'.

Appendix A: Methodology

In collaboration with DECC we conducted a Rapid Evidence Assessment of the subject area in the following stages:

- i. Established scope of the literature search
 - Energy infrastructure to include generation, transmission and geological storage
 - UK focus include only best practice non-UK research
 - Medium scale local, community level
 - Timeframe 2005 onwards
- ii. Defined the key search terms
 - Infrastructure, energy, electricity
 - Engagement, participation, consultation
 - Planning, decision-making
 - Public
- iii. Identified literature sources
 - published and unpublished DECC documents
 - academic publications using three databases:
 - Sciencedirect
 - Google Scholar
 - Gov.UK
- iv. Conducted call for evidence from topic experts
 - Prof. Nick Pidgeon (Cardiff University)
 - Dr. Claire Haggett (University of Edinburgh)
 - Dr. Christopher Jones (Sheffield University)
 - Dr. Charles Warren (University of St. Andrews)
 - Dr. Stephen Jay (University of Liverpool)
- v. Identified publications authored by or familiar to the academic experts who authored the report
 - Prof. Patrick Devine-Wright (University of Exeter)

- Dr. Richard Cowell (Cardiff University)
- Dr. Hannah Devine-Wright (Placewise Ltd)
- vi. Conducted literature search see Table 1

Table 1: Result of literature search

Source	Search term(s)	Number of articles identified	Number of articles selected
Gov.UK	Energy	28	28
Gov.UK	Research and analysis	248	11
Sub-total		276	39
Google scholar	Engagement and electricity	13	1
	Participation and electricity	155	1
	Consultation and electricity	24	0
	Energy and engagement	73	6
	Engagement and wind	29	5
	Energy and participation	140	2
	Infrastructure and engagement	18	1
	Infrastructure and participation	72	2
	Infrastructure and decision- making	73	0
	Energy, planning and decision	39	1
Sub-total		636	19
Sciencedirect	Electricity and engagement	52	3
	Electricity and participation	210	1non-UK
	Electricity and consultation	22	2 non-UK
	Energy and engagement	276	5
	Energy and participation	941	12
	Infrastructure and engagement	147	10
	Infrastructure and participation	357	1

	Infrastructure and consultation	79	1
	Infrastructure and public in energy	257	39
	Infrastructure and planning in energy	11471	49
Sub-total		1897	123
Academic experts		21	19
Sub-total		21	19
Totals		2851	190

vii. Established criteria for inclusion/exclusion in evidence database based on

a) relevance

- as defined by scope of the literature search
- empirical rather than exclusively theoretical
- applied rather than purely academic interest
- actual rather than hypothetical or anticipated research
- contains research element, rather than statement of policy or procedures

b) Quality and appropriateness of research

- Clear aim(s)
- Adequate description of method

viii. Created an Excel database and entered publications

- Initial stage full reference, reviewer, abstract/summary, source, status, priority (include/exclude with reason)
- Second stage if 'include' then complete review entered into the database

Appendix B: References

A database of literature sources is available in the excel file provided alongside this document. References used in this paper are supplied below:

Aitken, M (2010) Wind power and community benefits: challenges and opportunities. Energy Policy, 38(10); 6066-6075.

Aitken, M., Haggett, C and Rudolph, D (2014) Wind Farms Community Engagement Good Practice Review.

Altman, I., & Low, S. (1992). Place attachment. New York: Plenum Press.

Antonson, H. (2009). Bridging the gap between research and planning practice concerning landscape in Swedish infrastructural planning. Land Use Policy, 26, 169–177.

Barnett, J., Burningham, K. Walker, G and Cass, N (2012) Imagined publics and engagement around renwable energy technologies in the UK. Public Understanding of Science, 21, 1, 36-50.

Barry, J and Ellis, G (2010) 'Beyond consensus? Agonism, republicanism and a low carbon future.In P. Devine-Wright (Ed.) Public Engagement with Renewable Energy: From NIMBY to Participation. London: Earthscan.

Batel, S., & Devine-Wright, P. (2014). A critical and empirical analysis of the national-local "gap" in public responses to large-scale energy infrastructures. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 1–20.

Batel, S., Devine-Wright, P. and Tangeland, T. (2013) Social acceptance of low carbon energy and associated infrastrutures: A critical discussion. Energy Policy, 58, 1-5.

Bergek A (2010) 'Levelling the playing field? The influence of national wind power planning instruments on conflicts of interest in a Swedish county', Energy Policy, 38, 2357-2369.

Blaschke, T., Biberacher, M., Gadocha, S., & Schardinger, I. (2013). "Energy landscapes": Meeting energy demands andhuman aspirations. Biomass and Bioenergy, 55, 3–16.

Bomberg, E and McEwen, N (2012) Mobilizing Community Energy, Energy Policy, 51, 435-444.

Bristow, G. I., Cowell, R. J. W. and Munday, M. C. R. 2012. Windfalls for whom? The evolving notion of 'community' in community benefit provisions from wind farms. Geoforum 43(6), pp. 1108-1120.

Brophy, H. A and Pollitt, M. G (2013) International benchmarking of electricity transmission by regulators: a contrast between theory and practice? Energy Policy, 62, 267-281.

Brunsting, S., Desbarats, J., De Best-Waldhober, M., Duetschke, E., Oltra, C., Upham, P., & Riesch, H. (2011). The public and CCS: The importance of communication and participation in the context of local realities. Energy Procedia, 4: 6241–6247.

Burningham, K (2000). Using the language of NIMBY: A topic for research, not an activity for researchers. Local Environment: The International Journal of Justice and Sustainability, 5: 55-67.

Burningham KA, Barnett J, Walker G. (2014) "An array of deficits: Unpacking NIMBY discourses in wind energy proponents" conceptualisations of their local opponents". Taylor & Francis Society and Natural Resources.

Cass, N., Walker, G., & Devine-Wright, P. (2010). Good Neighbours, Public Relations and Bribes: The Politics and Perceptions of Community Benefit Provision in Renewable Energy Development in the UK. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 12(3), 255-275.

Cass, N and Walker, G (2009) Emotion and rationality: the characterisation and evaluation of opposition to renewable energy projects. Emotion, Space and Society, 2, 1, 62-69.

Chilvers, J and Burgess, J (2008) Power relations: the politics of risk and procedure in nuclear waste governance. Environment and Planning A, 40(8), 1881-1900.

Christie N, Smyth K, Barnes R and Elliott M (2014) 'Co-location of activities and designations: a means of solving or creating problems in marine spatial planning?' Marine Policy 43, 54-261

Cotton, M., & Devine-Wright, P. (2010). Making electricity networks "visible": Industry actor representations of "publics" and public engagement in infrastructure planning. Public Understanding of Science, 21, 17–35.

Cotton, M., & Devine-Wright, P. (2011). Discourses of energy infrastructure development: A Q-method study of electricity transmission line siting in the UK. Environment and Planning A, 43, 942–960.

Cotton, M. and Devine-Wright, P. (2013) Putting pylons into place: a UK case study of public perspectives on the impacts of high voltage overhead transmission lines. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 56, 1225-1245.

Cowell, R. (2007) Wind power and "the planning problem": the experience of Wales, European Environment, 17, 291-306.

Cowell R, Bristow G, Munday M and Strachan P (2007) Wind Farm Development in Wales: Assessing the Community Benefits, Final Report, September, unpublished report for the Welsh Government.

Cowell, R. J. W. 2010. Wind power, landscape and strategic, spatial planning - The construction of 'acceptable locations' in Wales. Land Use Policy, 27(2), pp. 222-232.

Cowell R, Bristow G and Munday M 2011 'Acceptance, acceptability and environmental justice – the role of community benefits in wind farm development', Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 54(4), 539-557

Cowell R, Bristow G and Munday M (2012) Wind Energy and Justice for Disadvantaged Communities, Viewpoint produced for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, JRF: York, pp.44.

Cowell R, Ellis G, Sherry-Brennan F, Strachan P and Toke D (2015) 'Re-scaling the governance of renewable energy: lessons from the UK devolution experience' Journal of Environmental Policy and Planning published on-line

DECC (2010. The Government Response to the Parliamentary Scrutiny of the draft National Policy Statements for Energy Infrastructure. October, London: HMSO.

DECC (July 2011). The Low Carbon Communities Challenge: Findings from the engagement support by Dialogue by Design. Final Report

DECC Customer Insight Team (Nov 2011) Carbon Capture Storage (CCS) Public awareness and engagement: a review of the evidence

DECC (2011). Propriety Guidance. December

DECC (2011). Planning Our Electric Future: a White Paper for secure, afforable and low-carbon electricity, July, Cm8099, London: DECC.

DECC (2011). Decommissioning of Offshore Renewable Energy Installations Under the Energy Act 2004: Guidance Notes for Industry, January 2001 (revised), available on-line.

DECC (2011). Compulsory Purchase Powers for the Change of use of Existing Gas Pipelines, Impact Assessment, 1st June 2011

DECC (2013a). Government Response: Necessary Wayleave Regime. July, London: Crown Copyright.

DECC (2013b). Varying consents granted under section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 for generating stations in England and Wales

DECC (2013c). Use of UK biomass for electricity and CHP, September

DECC (2013d). Government Response: Consultation on the Amendment to the Electric Lines Above Ground Threshold in the Planning Act 2008, March, London: Crown Copyright.

DECC (2013e). Environmental Information Request: 13/1506 - Wayleave Hearings, 22nd November.

DECC (2014a). The Planning System for Renewables: Planning Database Extract Data Fields, 19th March

DECC (2014b). Guidance for Applicants and Landowners and/or Occupiers. Application to the Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change from 1 October 2013, for the grant of Necessary (Compulsory) Electricity Wayleave or Felling and Lopping of Trees Order in England and Wales, January, London: DECC.

Department of Energy and Climate Change (2014c) Scotland Analysis: Energy, April, Cm8826, : London.

DECC (2014d) Community Benefits from Onshore wind developments: best practice guidance for England (Oct 2014) Regen SW

DECC (2014e) Community Energy Strategy: Full Report (Jan 2014)

DECC (2014f) Community Energy Survey: Summary of key findings

DECC (Jan 2015) Swansea Bay Tidal Lagoon: potential support for the project through the CFD (Contract for Difference) mechanism: Stakeholder engagement document

Devine-Wright, P. (2005a). Beyond NIMBYism: Towards an integrated framework for understanding public perceptions of wind energy. Wind Energy, 8(January), 125–139.

Devine-Wright, P. (2005b). Local aspects of UK renewable energy development: exploring public beliefs and policy implications. Local Environment, 10(1), 57–69.

Devine-Wright, P. (2009) Rethinking Nimbyism: the role of place attachment and place identity in explaining place protective action. Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology. 19(6), 426-441.

Devine-Wright, P., Devine-Wright, H., & Sherry-Brennan, F. (2010). Visible technologies, invisible organisations: An empirical study of public beliefs about electricity supply networks. Energy Policy, 38(8), 4127–4134.

Devine-Wright, P. & Howes, Y. (2010). Disruption to place attachment and the protection of restorative environments: A wind energy case study. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 30, 271–280.

Devine-Wright, P. (2011a). Enhancing local distinctiveness fosters public acceptance of tidal energy: A UK case study. Energy Policy, 39, 83–93.

Devine-Wright, P. (2011b). Place attachment and public acceptance of renewable energy: A tidal energy case study. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 31, 336–343.

Devine-Wright, P. (2011c). Public engagement with large-scale renewable energy technologies: Breaking the cycle of NIMBYism. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 2, 19–26.

Devine-Wright, P. (2011d) From backyards to places: public engagement and the emplacement of renewable energy technologies. In: Devine-Wright P, (Ed.) Public Engagement with Renewable Energy: From NIMBY to Participation. London: Earthscan, pp. 57-70.

Devine-Wright, P. (2012a). Explaining "NIMBY" Objections to a Power Line: The Role of Personal, Place Attachment and Project-Related Factors. Environment and Behavior.

Devine-Wright, P. (2012b) 'Fostering public engagement in wind energy development: the role of intermediaries and community benefits', in Szarka J, Cowell R, Ellis G, Strachan P A and Warren C eds (2012) Learning from Wind Power. Governance, Societal and Policy Perspectives on Sustainable Energy, Palgrave: Basingstoke, Hants, pp.194-214.

Devine-Wright, P. (2013) Explaining 'NIMBY' objections to a power line: The role of personal, place attachment and project-related factors. Environment and Behavior, 45, 761-781.

Devine-Wright, P., & Batel, S. (2013). Explaining public preferences for high voltage pylon designs: An empirical study of perceived fit in a rural landscape. Land Use Policy, 31, 640–649.

Dietz, D and Stern, P. C (2008) Public participation in environmental assessment and decision making. The National Academies Press.

Drenthen, M. (2010) NIMBY and the Ethics of the Particular, Ethics, Place & Environment: A Journal of Philosophy & Geography, 13, 321-323

Ek, K. and Persson, L. (2014) Wind farms - where and how to place them? : A choice experiment approach to measure consumer preferences for characteristics of wind farm establishments in Sweden. Ecological Economics, 105, 193-203

Ellis, G., Barry, J and Robinson, C (2007) Many ways to say 'no', different ways to say 'yes': Applying Q-Methodology to understand public acceptance of wind farm proposals. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 50, 4, 517-551.

Evans, B., Parks, J and Theobald, K (2011) Urban wind power and the private sector: community benefits, social acceptance and public engagement. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 54, 2, 227-244.

Firestone J, Bates A and Knapp L (2015) 'See me, feel me, touch me, heal me: wind turbines, culture, landscapes and sound impression', Land Use Policy 46, 241-249.

Flynn, R., Bellaby, P and Ricci, M (2011) The limits of upstream engagement in an emergent technology: Lay perceptions of hydrogen energy technologies in Devine-Wright, P (Ed) Renewable Energy and the Public: From NIMBY to participation. London: Earthscan pp. 245-260.

Fullilove, M. (2013) "The Frayed Knot": What happens to place attachment in the context of serial forced displacements? In L. Manzo and P. Devine-Wright (Eds.) Place Attachment: Advances in Theory, Method and Application. Routledge, Oxford, pp. 141-153.

Gallagher, L., Ferreira, S. And Convery, F. (2008) Host community attitudes towards solid waste landfill infrastructure: comprehension before compensation', Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 51(2), 233-257.

Gibson, E., & Howsam, P. (2010). The legal framework for offshore wind farms: A critical analysis of the consents process. Energy Policy, 38(8), 4692–4702.

Good Energy (2013) http://www.goodenergy.co.uk/blog/articles/2013/01/08/the-uk-s-first-local-electricity-tariff-is-open-for-business

Gross, C (2007) Community perspectives of wind energy in Australia: The application of a justice and community fairness framework to increase social acceptance. Energy Policy, 35(5): 2727-2736.

- Groves C, Munday M and Yakovleva, N (2013) Fighting the pipe: neoliberal governance and barriers to effective community participation in energy infrastructure planning, Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy 31(2) 340 356;
- Haggett, C & Toke, D (2006) Crossing the great divide using multi-method analysis to understand opposition to windfarms. Public Administration, 84, 1, 103-120.
- Haggett, C (2008) 'Over the sea and far away? A consideration of the planning, politics and public perception of offshore wind farms. J Env Policy & Planning, 10, 3, 289-306
- Haggett, C (2012) 'The social experience of noise from wind farms', in Szarka J et al. (eds) Learning from Wind Power: Governance, Societal and Policy Perspectives on Sustainable Energy, Basingstoke: Palgrave, pp.153-173
- Haggett, C., Creamer, E., Harnmeijer, J., Parsons, M., and Bomberg, E. (2013) Community Energy in Scotland: The Social Factors for Success. Report commissioned by ClimateXChange for the Scottish Government
- Haggett, C., Aitken, M., Rudolph, D., van Veelen, B., Harnmejer, J., and Markantoni, M. (2014) Supporting community investment in commercial energy schemes, Research Report for ClimateXChange and the Scottish Government
- Hawkey, D., Webb, J., & Winskel, M. (2013). Organisation and governance of urban energy systems: district heating and cooling in the UK. Journal of Cleaner Production, 50, 22–31.
- Hindmarsh, R and Matthews, C (2008) Deliberative speak at the turbine face: community engagement, wind farms, and renewable energy transition in Australia. Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 10(3), 217-232.
- Hitzeroth, M., & Megerle, A. (2013). Renewable energy projects: Acceptance risks and their management. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 27, 576–584.
- Howard, D. C., Burgess, P. J., Butler, S. J., Carver, S. J., Cockerill, T., Coleby, A.M., Gan, G., Goodier, C.J., Van der Horst, D., Hubacek, K., Lord, R., Mead, A., Rivas-Casado, M., Wadsworth, R.A and Scholefield, P. (2013). Energyscapes: Linking the energy system and ecosystem services in real landscapes. Biomass and Bioenergy, 55(0), 17–26.
- Howard, D (2015) Olive branches and idiot's guides: Frameworks for community engagement in Australian wind farm development. Energy Policy, 78, 137-147.
- Huijts, N.M.A., Molin, E.J.E and Steg, L (2012) Psychological factors influencing sustainable energy technology acceptance: A review-based comprehensive framework. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16, 525-531.
- Huijts, N.M.A., Molin, E.J.E. and van Wee, B (2014) Hydrogen fuel station acceptance: A structural equation model based on the technology acceptance framework. J. Env. Psychology, 38, 153-166.
- Hyder Consulting (2013) Evaluation of Consenting Performance of Renewable Energy Schemes in Wales, Main Report, Volume 1, January, Cardiff: Hyder Consulting (UK) Limited.
- Jay, S. (2012) From laggard to world leader: the United Kingdom's adoption of marine wind energy. Learning from Wind Power: Governance, Societal and Policy Perspectives on Sustainable Energy. Palgrave MacMillan, Basingstoke, pp. 85-107.
- Jones, C.R and Eiser, J.R (2009) Identifying predictors of attitudes towards local onshore wind development with reference to an English case study. Energy Policy, 37, 4604-4614.
- Jones, C.R and Eiser, J.R (2010) Understanding 'local' opposition to wind development in the UK: How big is a backyard? Energy Policy, 3106-3117.

- Jones C R, Orr B J and Eiser R (2011). When is enough, enough? Identifying predictors of capacity estimates for onshore wind-power development in a region of the UK', Energy Policy 39, 4563-4577
- Jones, C. R., Orr, B. J and Eiser, J.R (2011). When is enough, enough? Identifying predictors of capacity estimates for onshore wind-power development in a region of the UK. Energy Policy, 39, 4563-4577.
- Jones, C.R., Eiser, J.R and Gamble, T.R (2012) Assessing the impact of framing on the comparative favourability of nuclear power as an electricity generating option in the UK. Energy Policy, 41, 451-465.
- Jones, C.R., Lange, E., Kang, J., Tsuchiya, A., Howell, R., While, A., Crisp, R.J., Steel, J., Meade, K., Qu, F., Sturge, D and Bray, A (2014). WindNet: Improving the impact assessment of wind power projects. AIMS Energy, 2, 4, 461-484.
- Lee, M, Rydin, Y and Lock, S (2015) Public engagement in decision-making on major wind energy projects. J of Environmental Law, 27 (in press)
- Martinkus, N., Shi, W., Lovrich, N., Pierce, J., Smith, P., & Wolcott, M. (2014). Integrating biogeophysical and social assets into biomass-to-biofuel supply chain siting decisions. Biomass and Bioenergy, 66, 410–418.
- McLachlan, C (2009) 'You don't do a chemistry experiment in your best china': Symbolic interpretations of place and technology in a wave energy case. Energy Policy, 37, 5342-5350.
- Midden CJH and Huijts NMA.(2009) The role of trust in the affective evaluation of novel risks: the case of CO2 storage. Risk Analysis, 29:743–51
- Moragues-Faus, A. & Ortiz-Miranda, D. (2010) 'Local mobilisation against windfarm development in Spanish rural areas new actors in the regulation arena', Energy Policy 38(8), 4232-4240.
- Moss T (2014) 'Socio-technical change and the politics of urban infrastructure: managing energy in Berlin between dictatorship and democracy', Urban Studies 51(7), 1432-1448.
- Munday, M. C. R., Bristow, G. I. and Cowell, R. J. W.(2011) Wind farms in rural areas: How far do community benefits from wind farms represent a local economic development opportunity? Journal of Rural Studies, 27(1), pp. 1-12.
- Nadai, A. (2007) "Planning", "siting" and the local acceptance of wind power: some lessons from the French case', Energy Policy, 35, 2715-2726
- Nadai, A. (2012) 'Planning with the missing masses: innovative wind power planning in France;, in Szarka J et al. (eds) Learning from Wind Power. Governance, Societal and Policy Perspectives on Sustainable Energy, Basingtoke: Palgrave, pp.108-129.
- O'Keeffe, A & Haggett, C (2012) An investigation into the potential barriers facing the development of offshore wind energy in Scotland: Case study Firth of Forth offshore wind farm. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16, 3711-3721.
- Palmas, C., Siewert, A., & von Haaren, C. (2014). Exploring the decision-space for renewable energy generation to enhance spatial efficiency. Environmental Impact Assessment Review.
- Parkhill, K.A., Pidgeon, N.F., Henwood, K. L., Simmons, P and Venables, D (2010) From the familiar to the extraordinary: local residents' perceptions of risk when living with nuclear power in the UK. Trans Inst Br Geogr, 5, 35, 39-58.

Parkhill, K.A., Henwood, K. L., Pidgeon, N.F and Simmons, P (2011) Laughing it off? Humour, affect and emotion work in communities living with nuclear risk. The British J of Sociology, 62, 2, 324-346.

Pasqualetti, M. J (2011) Opposing wind energy landscapes: a search for common cause. Annals of the Association of American Geographers

Pidgeon, N and Demski, C.C (2012) From nuclear to renewable: energy system transformation and public attitudes. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 68(4), 41-51.

Pidgeon, N., Demski, C., Butler, C., Parkhill, K and Spence, A (2014) Creating a national citizen engagement process for energy policy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 111(Supplement 4) 13583-13584.

Power, S. & Cowell, R. (2012) Wind power and spatial planning in the UK,, in Szarka J et al. (eds.) Learning from Wind Power. Governance, Societal and Policy Perspectives on Sustainable Energy, Basingstoke: Palgrave, pp.61-84.

Proshansky, H., Fabian, H. K., & Kaminoff, R. (1983). Place identity: Physical world socialisation of the self. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 3, 57–83.

Rathouse, K and Devine-Wright, P (2010) Evaluation of the Big Energy Shift. Final report to DECC and Sciencewise-ERC.

Richardson, P., Rickwood, K and Rickwood, P (2013) Public involvement as a tool to enhance nuclear safety. Energy Strategy Reviews, 1, 266-271.

Rogers, J. C., Simmons, E. A., Convery, I., & Weatherall, A. (2008). Public perceptions of opportunities for community-based renewable energy projects. Energy Policy, 36(11), 4217–4226.

Rowe, G and Frewer, L. J (2000) Public participation methods: A framework for evaluation. Science, Technology and Human Values, 25, 1, 3-29.

Schweizer, P-J., Renn, O., Köck, W., Bovet, J., Benighaus, C., Scheel, O and Schröter, R (2014). Public participation for infrastructure planning in the context of the German "Energiewende". Utilities Policy, 1-4.

Sciencewise (March 2015) Quality in public dialogue: a framework for assessing the quality of public dialogue. Working paper pp.1-26.

Seyfang, G., Park, J.J. and Smith, A (2013) A thousand flowers blooming? An examination of community energy in the UK. Energy Policy, 61, 977-989.

Shankleman, J. (2014) 'Conservatives confirm plan to scrap onshore wind subsidies', Business Green, 24th April, http://www.businessgreen.com/bg/news/2341291/conservatives-confirm-plans-to-scrap-onshore-wind-subsidies, accessed 30th March 2015

Shared Ownership Taskforce (2014) Report to DECC. Available at the following website: http://www.renewableuk.com/en/utilities/document-summary.cfm?docid=CB5A9C2C-FA70-46CE-83757D293D992E3E

Slee, B. (2015). Is there a case for community-based equity participation in Scottish on-shore wind energy production? Gaps in evidence and research needs. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 41, 540–549.

Smart, D. E., Stojanovic, T. A., & Warren, C. R. (2014). Is EIA part of the wind power planning problem? Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 49, 13–23.

Steinbach, A (2013). Barriers and solutions for expansion of electricity grids - the German experience. Energy Policy, 63, 224-229.

Sterling, A (2005) Opening up or closing down? Analysis, participation and power in the social appraisal of technology. In Leach, M., Scoones, I and Wynne, B (Eds) Science and Citizen: Globalization and the Challenge of Engagement. London: Zed, pp.218-231.

Strachan P A, Cowell R, Ellis G, Sherry-Brennan F and Toke D (2015)'Promoting community renewable energy in a corporate energy world, Sustainable Development (published online).

Szarka, J (2007) Why is there no wind rush in France? European Environment, 17(5), 321-333.

Taylor, P. G., Bolton, R., Stone, D., & Upham, P. (2013). Developing pathways for energy storage in the UK using a coevolutionary framework. Energy Policy, 63, 230–243.

Terwel, B. W., Koudenburg, F.A and ter Mors, E (2014) Public responses to community compensation: The importance of prior consultations with local residents. Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology, 24, 6, 479-490.

Thygesen, J., & Agarwal, A. (2014). Key criteria for sustainable wind energy planning—lessons from an institutional perspective on the impact assessment literature. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 39, 1012–1023.

TNS BMRB (Dec 2014) Public engagement with shale gas and oil: A report on findings from public dialogue workshops (Dec 2014).

United Nations 2014 Aarhus Convention

Van der Horst, D (2008) Social enterprise and renewable energy: emerging initiatives and communities of practice. Social Enterprise Journal, 4(3), 171-185.

Venables, D., Pidgeon, N.F., Parkhill, K.A., Henwood, K.L and Simmons, P (2012). Living with nuclear power: Sense of place, proximity, and risk perceptions in local host communities. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 32, 371-383.

Walker, G. (1995). Renewable energy and the public. Land Use Policy (Vol. 12, pp. 49–59).

Walker, G (2008) What are the barriers and incentives for community-owned means of energy production and use? Energy Policy, 36(12), 4401-4405.

Walker, P. (2009) Dinosaur DAD and Enlightened EDD – engaging people earlier is better. The Environmentalist, 71, 12-13.

Walker, G. and Devine-Wright P. (2008) Community Renewable Energy: What does it mean? Energy Policy, 36, 497-500.

Walker, G., Cass, N., Burningham, K., Barnett, J (2010) Renewable energy and sociotechnical change: imagined subjectivities of 'the public' and their implications. Environment and Planning A, 42, 4, 931-947.

Walker, G., Devine-Wright, P., Barnett, J., Burningham, K., Cass, K., Devine-Wright, H., Speller, G., Barton, J., Evans, B., Heath, Y., Infield, D., Parks, J. and Theobald, K. (2011) Symmetries, expectations, dynamics and contexts: A framework for understanding public engagement with renewable energy projects. In P. Devine-Wright (Ed.) Public Engagement with Renewable Energy: From NIMBY to Participation. London: Earthscan, 1-14

Walker, B. J. a., Wiersma, B., & Bailey, E. (2014). Community benefits, framing and the social acceptance of offshore wind farms: An experimental study in England. Energy Research & Social Science, 3, 46–54.

Warren, C. R and McFadyen, M (2010) Does community ownership affect public attitudes to wind energy? A case study from south-west Scotland. Land Use Policy, 27, 204-213.

Wilsden, J & Willis, R (2004) 'See-Through Science: Why public engagement needs to move upstream' available at www.demos.co.uk

Wolsink, M. (1996) Dutch wind power policy: stagnating implementation of renewables, Energy Policy, 24(12), 1079-1088.

Wolsink, M (2000) Wind power and the NIMBY-myth: institutional capacity and the limited significance of public support. Renewable Energy, 21, 49-64.

Wolsink, M (2010) Contested environmental policy infrastructure: Socio-political acceptance of renewable energy, water, and waste facilities. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 30, 302-311.

Wolsink, M (2011). Discourses on the implementation of wind power: stakeholder views on public engagement. In P. Devine-Wright (Ed.) Renewable energy and the public: from NIMBY to participation (pp. 75-87). London: Earthscan.

Zaal, M.P., Terwel, B.W., Ter Mors, E., &Daamen, D.D.L. (2014). Monetary compensation can increase public support for the siting of hazardous facilities. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 37, 21-30.

Zichella, C., & Hladik, J. (2013). Siting: Finding a home for renewable energy and transmission. Electricity Journal, 26(8), 125–138.

Zoellner, J., Schweizer-Ries, P and Wemheuer, C (2008) Public acceptance of renewable energies: Results form case studies in Germany. Energy Policy, 36, 11-36.